

WHATCOM COUNTY CONTRACT NO. 201905014

COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT By and Between WHATCOM COUNTY

and

PROFESSIONAL AND TECHNICAL EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 17

May 21, 2019 - December 31, 2020

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
PREAMBLE		3
ARTICLE 1	RECOGNITION	3
ARTICLE 2	UNION SECURITY	3
ARTICLE 3	MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	4
ARTICLE 4	HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME	4
ARTICLE 5	HOLIDAYS	8
ARTICLE 6	VACATIONS	9
ARTICLE 7	SICK LEAVE	10
ARTICLE 8	BEREAVEMENT LEAVE	12
ARTICLE 9	FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE	13
ARTICLE 10	LEAVES OF ABSENCE	13
ARTICLE 11	COMPENSATION AND RATES OF PAY	14
ARTICLE 12	NO STRIKE - NO LOCKOUT	16
ARTICLE 13	CLASSIFICATIONS	16
ARTICLE 14	HIRING & PROMOTIONS	16
ARTICLE 15	EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES	18
ARTICLE 16	LAYOFF AND RECALL	20
ARTICLE 17	ADVISORYCOMMITTEE	21
ARTICLE 18	RETIREMENT	22
ARTICLE 19	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	22
ARTICLE 20	SUBORDINATION OF AGREEMENT	23
ARTICLE 21	SAVINGS CLAUSE	23
ARTICLE 22	CONTRACTING OUT	23
ARTICLE 23	GROUP INSURANCE	24
ARTICLE 24	INDEMNITY AND HOLD HARMLESS AGREEMENT	26
ARTICLE 25	DURATION	27
	SALARY MATRICES	
	RSTANDING #1	
	RSTANDING #2 – JOB SHARE AGREEMENT	
LETTER OF AGREE	MENT	37

AGREEMENT By and Between WHATCOM COUNTY and

PROFESSIONAL AND TECHNICAL EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 17

PREAMBLE

This Agreement is by and between Whatcom County, hereinafter referred to as the "County" and the Professional and Technical Employees, Local No. 17, hereinafter referred to as the "Union."

The purpose of this Agreement is to facilitate the achievement of the mutual goal of providing quality community public health services, efficiently and economically, by establishing standards of wages, hours, and other conditions of employment, and to provide an orderly system of employer, employee relations.

ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION

Section 1.1 Recognition. The County recognizes the Union as the sole collective bargaining agent representing all full-time and part-time employees working in the collective bargaining unit certified by the Public Employment Relations Commission in Case No. 2687-E-80-519, in those job classifications listed in Article 16 as they currently exist or as they may be amended during the life of this Agreement. Excluded from the bargaining unit are temporary full- or part-time help hired for periods of less than 1040 hours in a year to meet the transient needs of the County who are notified in advance of being hired that employment will be terminated when the County determines the need for temporary help is over. A temporary employee may not be employed by the County for more than 1040 hours in a year. Unless mutually agreed, consecutive temporary appointments of the same employee to perform the same duties cannot be made without a minimum of ninety (90) days break in service.

Section 1.2 Unilateral Changes. The County agrees not to unilaterally change the working conditions, wages, or benefits of bargaining unit employees during the term of this Agreement. This section shall not be a waiver of RCW 41.56 rights. The County's implementation or utilization of contractual provisions shall not be a unilateral change.

Section 1.3 Bargaining Unit Work. Existing bargaining unit work shall be performed by bargaining unit employees. When a new classification is created, the Union will continue to be recognized as the exclusive bargaining representative for employees performing traditional bargaining unit work, unless they are bona fide administrative/management positions.

ARTICLE 2 - UNION SECURITY

Section 2.1 Dues. The County agrees to deduct such membership initiation fees and dues from the wages of employees who have authorized such deductions in writing. The payroll deduction will begin upon hire, or the pay period following receipt of the authorization

form. The County shall submit the dues to the address and name provided by the Union.

- **Section 2.2 Indemnification of County.** The Union and all bargaining unit employees agree to indemnify and hold harmless the County from any and all liability resulting from such deductions.
- **Section 2.3 New Bargaining Unit Members.** The County will provide Union representatives reasonable access to new employees during the work time for up to thirty (30) minutes within ninety (90) days of hire for the purpose of presenting Union membership information.
- **Section 2.4 Revocation.** An employee may revoke his or her authorization for payroll deduction of payments to the Union by written notice to the Union and the County. The payroll deduction will end the pay period following County's receipt of the employee's written notice.
- **Section 2.5. New Hire Notice to Union**. The County agrees to notify the Union biweekly of new hires. Notification will be in writing and will include the name, address, date of hire, classification, work location and phone number.

ARTICLE 3 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

The County retains all rights except as those rights are limited by the express provisions of this Agreement. Nothing anywhere in this Agreement shall be construed to impair the rights of the County to conduct all its business and all particulars except as expressly and specifically modified in this Agreement.

ARTICLE 4 - HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME

- Section 4.1 Basic Workweek/Workday. The basic workweek schedule shall be forty (40) hours, Monday through Friday. The basic workday schedule will be eight (8) hours. Alternative schedules that differ from the basic workday/workweek schedule may be established when agreed to by the affected employee and the Director or designee using the Local 17 Alternative Work Schedule Request Form. (Addendum C) Special programs or unusual circumstances may necessitate work on other days; in such instances, the workweek shall be five (5) days out of a seven (7) day period, provided that the County shall notify employees at least one (1) week prior to changing their workweek schedule. Nothing in this article shall prevent the Health Director from changing work schedules, on a temporary basis, in the event of a bona fide public health emergency as determined by the Director.
- **Section 4.1.1 Work in Pt. Roberts.** Employees who are required by the County to cross the border to Pt. Roberts to perform work will cooperate with their supervisor to adjust their schedule within the week to avoid the payment of overtime. Both parties recognize there may be circumstances where overtime work is unavoidable.
- **Section 4.2 Part Time Schedules.** Full-time employees may request to work a 0.9 or .95 FTE part-time schedule. Part-time schedules will be mutually agreed to between the employee and the Director in writing. In the administration of this section, employees choosing

to change their FTE as permitted must notify the Director no later than July 1 effective the following January. Any employee currently on a part-time schedule may revert back to a full-time schedule the first pay period following the date of adoption.

Section 4.2.1 Schedule Requirement. Employees working less than a full time schedule shall schedule no more than forty (40) hours in each work week.

Section 4.3 Breaks. Breaks include two (2) paid fifteen (15) minute rest breaks and a thirty (30) to sixty (60) minute lunch period on the employee's own time. The lunch period is to begin no earlier than two (2) hours and no later than five (5) hours after the start of the shift or as otherwise required/permitted by law. Employees not "required" to work by their supervisor without a rest or lunch break are deemed to have been "allowed to take a lunch or rest break. Rest and lunch breaks may be intermittent. Lunch and rest breaks may not be accumulated or not taken in order to shorten the workday or workweek.

Section 4.4 Overtime. All overtime must be approved in advance by the employee's supervisor. All work performed in excess of the scheduled workday or workweek, shall be compensated at time-and-one-half (1½) the regular straight time hourly rate of pay. Payment for such hours worked shall be in wages or in equivalent compensatory time, in accordance with Section 4.13 below. An employee may request to waive their contractual right to overtime as outlined in this section to accommodate a Flex Time agreement in accordance with section 4.6 (Flex Time). An employee may be required to waive their contractual right to overtime to accommodate a temporary adjustment to their Alternative Schedule in accordance with section 4.9.2 (Temporary Changes).

Section 4.4.1 Overtime for Employees Working Less than 1.0 FTE. Part-time employees shall be paid at the overtime rate as follows:

- (1) The employee is assigned to work outside their scheduled work day in excess of eight (8) hours per day or their scheduled work day, whichever is greater; or
 - (2) The employee has worked in excess of forty (40) hours during the workweek.

Overtime will not be paid twice for the same hours worked. Hours that have been counted as daily overtime will be used to calculate the 40-hour weekly threshold.

Section 4.5 Meetings/Training. Employees assigned by management to attend meetings or training on behalf of the County outside the employee's regular schedule shall be paid at the appropriate overtime rate or may request compensatory time according to section 4.13. Employees may request to flex their time in lieu of overtime according to section 4.6 Flex Time. When the mandated training or meeting is in another city, same day travel time outside of the employee's regular commute time, shall be compensated as hours worked for both a passenger in a vehicle and the vehicle driver. When mandated meetings or training involves overnight travel time for the driver shall be compensated as hours worked. A passenger in a vehicle attending overnight meetings or training shall not be compensated for travel time outside of their scheduled work day. Overtime shall not be approved for non-mandatory meetings or training.

Section 4.6 Flex Time. Upon employee request for a change of workday or workweek

schedule and by mutual agreement between the employee and the Director or designee, an employee may "flex" their schedule to accommodate periodic personal employee matters, health care provider appointments, temporary schedule adjustments, attendance at meetings or training or to perform work on behalf of the County. Such agreements shall provide for no reduction in service to the public and must not increase the County's compensation costs for overtime, out-of-classification pay, holidays, etc.

Section 4.7 Weekend Food Service Inspections. The County may establish a regular part-time position for weekend temporary food service inspections only, which shall be exempt from overtime provisions of Article 4 unless the employee's work hours exceed 40 hours in a scheduled workweek.

Section 4.8 Pyramiding of Overtime. The hour requirements referred to above shall in no manner constitute a guarantee, nor shall there be any pyramiding of overtime.

Schedule may be established for full-time employees by written mutual agreement between the Director or designee and an employee with the concurrence of the Executive or his or her designee. Absent such an agreement, section 4.1 shall apply. An employee may fill out an Alternative Work Schedule Request Form (Addendum C) which, when approved by the Director or designee, establishes the employee's schedule and work week. Alternative Schedules shall not impede service to the public nor increase costs to the department as determined by the Director.

Section 4.9.1 Rescinding of Agreement. The Director or designee may rescind an Alternative Schedule agreement on an individual or program basis for bona-fide business reasons. The Director shall provide the Union with ten (10) days notice of any impending rescission and shall afford up to an additional ten (10) days of opportunity for discussion and consideration of any concern of the Union.

Section 4.9.2 Temporary Changes. The Director or designee may temporarily adjust Alternative Schedules, including coming off Alternative Schedules or changing a scheduled day off, from time to time to meet service and coverage needs, as determined by the Director, without the payment of overtime, so long as a FLSA exempt employee shall not be required to work more than eighty (80) hours in a pay period without the payment of overtime. Employees working less than full time shall not be required to work more than forty (40) hours in their workweek without the payment of overtime.

Section 4.10 Emergency Call-Backs. Emergency call-backs will be compensated at a minimum of two (2) hours to be compensated at time and one-half ($1\frac{1}{2}$). When an employee is recalled to work from vacation, the employee shall be guaranteed a minimum of four (4) hours at time and one half ($1\frac{1}{2}$) and no deduction will be made from the employee's vacation balance for a day when the employee is recalled.

Section 4.10.1 Telephonic Response. Employees authorized by their department head or designee to telephonically respond to emergencies, and who do respond between the hours of 9:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. shall receive one (1) hour minimum pay per incident at the rate of time and one half ($1\frac{1}{2}$).

Section 4.11 Reporting Pay. An employee who reports for work at the time scheduled by the County shall be entitled to pay for the full scheduled workday, even if the County is unable to provide work on the day they report. This reporting pay guarantee does not apply if the County notifies the employee prior to the start of his or her regularly scheduled shift not to report for work through any reasonable communication, such as electronically, voicemail, email, radio or television announcements, or in person.

Section 4.12 Absence Due to Adverse Weather. Absence or tardiness due to an employee's inability to report for scheduled work because of severe inclement weather conditions caused by severe inclement weather or other unusual emergency conditions shall be charged to one of the following in sequential order, unless the employee wishes to designate a specific alternative option:

- a. Compensatory time,
- b. Any accrued vacation leave,
- c. Personal Holiday,
- d. Flex time per Section 4.6,
- e. Leave without pay.

An employee has the option of taking leave without pay, instead of having the lost time charged against accruals, provided the departmental payroll clerk is notified before the payroll cutoff date.

Section 4.13 Compensatory Time. Compensatory time may be substituted for payment of one and one-half (1½) times the regular hourly pay rate for overtime work, by mutual agreement between the employee and the County, under the following conditions:

- a. Accrual. The County may grant the request, but shall not impose compensatory time upon any employee who has not requested it. The County shall grant employee requests for compensatory time in lieu of overtime up to an accrual of twenty-four (24) hours per calendar year and such additional amounts per mutual agreement of the County but in no event shall compensatory time exceed eighty (80) accrued hours. Compensatory time is accrued at the rate of one and one-half ($1\frac{1}{2}$) hours for each hour of overtime worked.
- **b.** Usage. An employee will be allowed to use the compensatory time within a reasonable period of time mutually acceptable to the employee and supervisor, so long as such use does not unduly disrupt the operations of the County.
- **c. Cashout.** All compensatory time earned shall be cashed out each year in December in the last paycheck of the calendar year. The payment shall be calculated on the basis of the employee's regular hourly rate at the time payment is received. Upon termination of employment, an employee shall be paid for unused accrued compensatory time at the employee's current regular hourly rate.

ARTICLE 5 - HOLIDAYS

Section 5.1 Eligibility Criteria. All benefit eligible full-time and part-time employees (.5 FTE or above) are eligible for holiday pay when a recognized holiday falls in a month where an employee is regularly scheduled to work. To receive holiday pay, an employee must have been in paid status or on an approved unpaid voluntary furlough the entire scheduled workday before and after the holiday. "Paid status" is defined as payment of wages for work performed, vacation or accrued sick leave, or other paid leave including income for industrial injury not to exceed twelve (12) calendar months.

Section 5.1.1 Employees Working Less Than 1.0 FTE. Part-time employees are eligible for holiday pay on a pro-rated basis in relation to their currently assigned, budgeted full-time equivalency (FTE).

Section 5.2 Holiday Schedule. The following days shall be considered as holidays with pay under the terms of this Agreement:

New Year's Day

Martin Luther King Day

Veteran's Day

Thanksgiving Day

President's Day

The day after Thanksgiving Day

Memorial Day

The day before Christmas Day

Independence Day Christmas Day Labor Day Personal Holiday

Section 5.2.1 Holiday Timing. If a holiday falls on a Saturday, it shall be observed the preceding Friday; if it falls on a Sunday, it shall be observed the following Monday.

Section 5.3 Holiday Pay. Employees who are assigned to a standard eight (8)-hour workday and forty (40)-hour workweek will receive eight (8) hours of holiday pay.

Section 5.3.1 Working a Holiday. If an employee works on a holiday, he or she shall receive one and one-half ($1\frac{1}{2}$) times the regular rate of pay for all hours actually worked.

Section 5.4 Personal Holiday. Each employee shall receive one (1) personal holiday on January 1 each calendar year which may be taken by the employee when the schedule is approved by the County. The personal holiday must be taken during the calendar year awarded and cannot be cashed out upon separation. Employees who received a personal holiday on January 1 are not entitled to another personal holiday until January 1 of the following year.

Section 5.4.1 Personal Holiday for New Hires. New hires must have been on the County's payroll three (3) calendar months of 80 compensated hours prior to utilizing the personal holiday.

Section 5.4.2 Employees Working Less Than 1.0 FTE. The personal holiday for employees working less than an assigned eight (8) hour schedule shall be prorated based

on their currently assigned, but no more than their budgeted full-time equivalency on January 1 of the calendar year. If an employee working less than full time transfers to a full-time position during the year, the employee will receive a personal holiday in the amount of eight (8) hours on January 1 of the following year.

ARTICLE 6 - VACATIONS

Section 6.1 Eligibility. All full-time and part-time employees regularly scheduled to work at least eighty (80) hours per month are eligible to accrue vacation, provided employees must receive compensation each month. The term compensation as used herein is defined to be payment of wages for work performed, vacation, accrued sick leave, or other paid leave; provided that said work, vacation and/or other paid leave must equal or exceed payment for eighty (80) hours in a calendar month. Income resulting from an industrial injury to a maximum of twelve (12) months from the date of the injury shall be credited as compensation.

Section 6.1.1 New Employees. New employees may use accrued vacation beginning the first pay period following completion of their initial probationary period.

Section 6.2 Accrual. Eligible employees shall accrue vacation on a calendar month basis. The amount of vacation earned for each calendar month shall be determined by the number of years of continuous service completed by the employee immediately prior to the commencement of the calendar month in accordance with the following chart:

Hours of Vacation
8.00 hours
10.00 hours
11.34 hours
12.00 hours
13.34 hours
14.00 hours
14.67 hours
15.34 hours
16.00 hours
16.67 hours

Section 6.2.1 Employees Working Less Than 1.0 FTE. Part-time employees are eligible to accrue paid vacation on a pro-rated basis in relation to their currently assigned, but no more than their budgeted full-time equivalency (FTE).

Section 6.2.2 Maximum Accrual. Employees may accrue and carry forward a maximum of two hundred and forty (240)hours vacation on December 31 of any year. Unused vacation in excess of two hundred and forty (240) hours on December 31 shall be forfeited except when an employee whose timely vacation request is denied due to the County's needs, shall be allowed to carry over vacation in excess of the two hundred and forty (240) hours maximum for up to twelve (12) months.

6.2.3 Annual Cash Out by Mutual Agreement. By mutual agreement between the employee, the department head and the Executive or designee, employees shall be

allowed to cash out up to forty (40) hours of vacation per year.

- **Section 6.3 Scheduling.** The County reserves the right to restrict the number of employees on vacation at any one time to maintain operational efficiency.
- **Section 6.3.1 Vacation Requests.** Requests for leave shall be in writing and approved in advance in writing by the employee's supervisor. In the event of conflicts between employees' requests for leave, the employee first requesting leave shall prevail. Vacation may be taken with the County's approval.
- **Section 6.4 Vacation Pay.** All vacation pay shall be based on the employee's regular rate of pay in effect during the time he or she takes a vacation. If a holiday recognized by the Agreement falls on a normal working day during which the employee is on vacation, the holiday shall not be counted against the employee's vacation account.

Section 6.5 Separation Cashout.

An employee who voluntarily terminates or is terminated for cause shall be compensated for any vacation earned but not already taken. Employees who separate or are terminated before the end of their initial six months of service shall not receive accrued vacation pay.

Section 6.5.1 457 Contribution. An employee may elect to contribute cashout to a 457 plan if election is made at least two pay periods prior to termination.

ARTICLE 7 - SICK LEAVE

- Section 7.1 Eligibility Criteria. To be eligible to accrue sick leave as provided herein, employees must receive compensation each month. The term compensation as used herein is defined to be payment of wages for work performed, vacation, accrued sick leave, or other paid leave; provided that said work, vacation and/or other paid leave must equal or exceed payment for eighty (80) hours in a calendar month. Income resulting from an industrial injury to a maximum of twelve (12) months from the date of the injury shall be credited as compensation.
- **Section 7.2 Accrual Rate.** Sick leave shall accrue to all full-time and part-time employees who are compensated at least eighty (80) hours in one (1) calendar month of employment, in the amount of eight (8) hours for each month of employment to a maximum of nine hundred and sixty (960) hours. For new hires, sick leave accruals shall begin the first of the month following eighty (80) compensated hours in one (1) calendar month. However, in no instance shall sick leave accrue at a rate less than one (1) hour for every forty (40) hours worked.
- Section 7.2.1 Maximum Carry Over. No employee may carry over more than nine hundred and sixty (960) hours of sick leave from one year to the next; however there is no cap on how many hours may be accrued in a year.
- Section 7.2.2 Employees Working Less Than 1.0 FTE. Part-time employees accrue sick leave on a pro-rated basis in relation to their currently assigned, but no more than their budgeted full-time equivalency.

Section 7.2.3 Accrual During Paid Leaves. Sick leave shall continue to accrue during paid leaves of absence as long as eligibility criteria is met.

Section 7.2.4 Maximum Accrual & Additional Accrual An employee who has accrued nine hundred and sixty (960) hours of sick leave on December 31 of any year, shall be allowed to accrue up to one thousand and fifty-six (1,056) hours of sick leave during the year immediately subsequent. These additional hours of accrual may not be cashed out. The employee's total accrual reverts back to no more than nine hundred and sixty (960) hours at the end of the year.

Section 7.3 Sick Leave Usage. Employees may use accrued sick leave for absences due to illness (mental or physical), injury, or health condition and for preventive care for the employee or the employee's family members or for any other purpose provided by law. Sick leave may also be used for absences due to domestic violence, sexual assault or stalking (RCW 49.76.030) or when an employee whose exposure to contagious disease, as determined by the Health Officer, would jeopardize the health of fellow workers or the public. New hires may begin using sick leave once accrued. The parties recognize it is in their mutual interest that sick leave benefits be used appropriately.

Section 7.3.1 Family Member. For purposes of this section, family member includes a spouse, a child, parent, parent-in-law, a registered domestic partner, a grandparent or grandchild or a sibling of the employee.

- 1) Child includes biological, adopted, foster, step, or a child to whom the employee stands in loco parentis, is a legal guardian, or is a de facto parent, regardless of age or dependency status.
- 2) Parent includes biological, adoptive, de facto, foster parent, stepparent, or legal guardian or the employee, parent of the employee's spouse or domestic registered partner, or a person who stood in loco parentis when the employee was a minor child.

Section 7.3.2 Verification. For absences exceeding three consecutive work days, the County may request an employee to provide verification that the use of paid sick leave is for an authorized purpose. The employee must provide verification within ten (10) work days following the first day of leave, except for domestic violence leave.

Section 7.3.3 Leave Sharing Program. Employees may voluntarily donate up to twenty-four (24) hours of sick leave accruals and up to twenty-four (24) hours of vacation leave accruals each year to employees eligible to receive leave donations under the County's Leave Sharing Program.

Section 7.3.4 Return Rights From Leave of Absence. Employees on extended leave of absence because of illness or injury shall retain the right to return to their original position for a period of one (1) year from the last day for which they have received compensation. Any employee off due to illness or disability who returns to work will be credited for length of return time within the twelve (12) month limit if the employee must go back on disability for the same illness/injury. For example, an employee who is absent for two (2)

months due to a back injury, and who then returns to work for one (1) month, followed by another extended absence due to the same back injury, would have eleven (11) months in which to return to his or her original position under this section of the Agreement. However, if the second extended absence was due to a different condition, such as a heart attack, the employee would have twelve (12) months in which to return.

Section 7.3.5 On-The-Job Injury. An employee may use sick leave to offset loss of wages when he or she is injured on the job and is collecting time loss compensation.

Section 7.3.6 Excess Sick Leave Contributions. Employees who have at least 960 hours in their sick leave bank at the beginning and end of the calendar year (or at the beginning of a calendar year and upon termination in that same year) shall receive a contribution to their 457 deferred compensation plan based on a portion of additional hours accrued during the year. The excess sick leave contribution is calculated based on hours accrued (to a maximum of 48) minus hours used, multiplied by 25%, and multiplied by the hourly rate at year end. Hours used in this calculation are no longer available to the participant. Employees eligible for a contribution must be enrolled in a deferred compensation plan prior to February 1 to receive the contribution or the excess sick leave will be forfeited.

Section 7.4 Separation Cashout. An employee shall be entitled to cash upon termination in the amount of twenty-five percent (25%) of their sick leave bank at the time of termination; provided, however, such employee has given at least thirty (30) days' notice prior to termination; and provided further, that this section shall not apply to any employee terminated for cause.

Section 7.4.1 457 Contribution. An employee may elect to contribute cashout to a 457 plan if election is made at least two pay periods prior to termination.

ARTICLE 8 - BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

If an employee suffers a death in the immediate family, the employee shall be allowed not more than five (5) days (up to forty (40) hours) off without loss in pay for bereavement in the death of a spouse, state registered domestic partner, child or parent (including step), of the employee or spouse. An employee shall be allowed three (3) days off without loss of pay for other immediate family members. Other immediate family is defined to be: brothers, sisters, grandchildren or grandparents of either the employee or the employee's spouse, including step. In the event of a funeral or other memorial occurring as a result of the death of a current, lawful brother or sister-in-law, the affected employee may have up to eight (8) hours of paid time off to attend the funeral or memorial if not covered as other immediate family.

For the purposes of bereavement leave only, a "day" is defined as the number of hours an employee is assigned to work for the requested days off. Employees working less than an assigned eight (8) hour schedule shall receive bereavement leave benefits based on their current assignment, but no more than their budgeted full-time equivalence. Upon the employee's request the County shall allow up to two (2) additional days off for bereavement, to be taken at the employee's option as personal holiday, vacation, compensatory time, or unpaid leave.

ARTICLE 9 - FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE

Section 9.1 Family and Medical Leave. The County agrees to provide leave to any eligible employee covered by this Agreement, consistent with the state and federal law. Employees eligible for statutory leave may elect to use any combination of accrued paid leave and unpaid leave. Employees absent due to work-related injury may use paid leave accruals for the portion of pay not provided through time loss.

If an employee has used a total of 480 hours (pro-rated based on FTE) of statutory leave, paid or unpaid, during County employment, he or she will be required to exhaust all but 40 hours of available vacation accruals or personal holiday before using unpaid FMLA leave.

Section 9.2 Additional Maternity Leave. Additional leave, without pay, may be granted up to a total of six (6) months at the discretion of and with prior approval of the County. Normally, no extension beyond six (6) months will be granted; however, under extraordinary circumstances, up to an additional six (6) months may be granted at the discretion of the County. If leave under this provision qualifies as leave under any federal or state statutes, the period of leave shall be counted concurrently.

Section 9.3 Physician Certifications. The County may require physician certifications of the nature and duration of an employee's absence from work. The County may also require recertifications, second opinions, periodic progress reports, certification of an employee's ability to return to work, and/or an employee's ability to continue the full performance of the employee's duties.

Section 9.4 State Paid Family and Medical Leave Program. Beginning January 1, 2020, eligible employees are covered by the Washington State Paid Family and Medical Leave Program administered by Employment Security under RCW 50A.04.

Eligibility for state paid leave and benefits are independent of this Agreement and premiums are shared between the County and the employee pursuant to the premium rates established by RCW 50A.04.115.

Section 9.5 Statutory Change. In the event any of the foregoing statutes should be amended or eliminated, either party can open this article for negotiations.

ARTICLE 10 - LEAVES OF ABSENCE

Section 10.1 Jury Duty & Civil Leave. Civil leave with pay shall be allowed to permit an employee to serve as a juror or to testify in any federal, state, or municipal court when a subpoena compels such testimony and such testimony is in connection with a matter in which Whatcom County is a party. Any employee must notify the immediate supervisor prior to taking civil leave and show proof of compulsion. When an employee receives any payment for serving as a juror or witness such payments must be paid to the County.

Section 10.2 Military Leave. Compensation, benefits and re-employment rights before, after, and during military leave shall be as outlined in state law, USERRA and County

policy. Employees must immediately notify his or her supervisor and Human Resources upon notice or receipt of orders requiring an employee to be absent from their job. Annual military leave with pay will be for a period not exceeding twenty-one (21) days per year, beginning October 1 and ending the following September 30, unless revised by law.

Section 10.3 Other Leaves of Absence. Any employee may be granted leave of absence without pay for a period of six (6) months at the discretion of and with prior written approval of the County. Under special circumstances, the period may be extended an additional six (6) months at the discretion of the County. No leave of absence shall be taken unless the Employee has first expended compensatory time, accumulated vacation leave, personal holiday and sick leave, if allowable; provided this prohibition may be waived upon application to, and at the discretion of, the County. If leave pursuant to this provision would also qualify as leave under any federal or state statute, including the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act or any applicable Washington state statutes, the period of leave will apply toward the employee's entitlement to leave under any applicable statute.

Section 10.4 Seniority and Benefits Coverage. Upon return from any authorized leave of absence with pay, an employee shall be entitled to the former position or a similar position, and there shall be no reduction in seniority, status, or pay. Seniority shall not be credited for leaves of absence without pay. An employee during a leave of absence may continue medical, dental, or life insurance benefits provided such employee makes satisfactory arrangement for payment of such premiums.

Section 10.5 Professional Training. The County reserves the right to determine the type and amount of professional training the employees shall receive with pay; provided that at least four (4) days per employee per year with pay will be provided to allow employees to attend such professional work-related conferences and training programs.

Section 10.6 Educational Leave. Any employee may be granted an unpaid leave of absence for up to one (1) year for educational purposes not leading to a master's degree, or up to two (2) years for programs leading to a master's degree. All educational leave will be granted only at the discretion of and with prior written approval of the County. The further education sought must be related to the profession of the employee and provide skills that can be utilized by the County. Two (2) months prior to the termination of leave, the employee must confirm in writing to the County the intention to return to work. The employee is entitled to return to her/his former or equivalent position. Seniority shall not accrue during the unpaid leave.

Section 10.7 Examination Leave. Employees will be allowed to take the examination for Environmental Health Specialist II and Environmental Health Technician II on work time, subject to prior notice and approval of their supervisor.

Section 10.8 Failure to Return From Leave. Failure to return from an authorized leave of absence may be grounds for discipline up to and including discharge.

ARTICLE 11 - COMPENSATION AND RATES OF PAY

Section 11.1 Salary Schedules. All bargaining unit employees shall be classified

pursuant to Addendum A and paid pursuant to Addendum B, which are made a part of this Agreement by reference. Effective the first pay period after date of adoption, each wage step of the 2018 salary matrix will increase by 2.5%.

Effective the first full pay period of January, 2020 each step of the 2019 hourly matrix shall be increased by 2.0%

Effective the first full pay period of July, 2020, each step of the 2020 hourly matrix shall be increased by 1.0%.

Section 11.2 Longevity. Starting with the employees' seventh (7th) year of employment, employees who are at .5 FTE or above, shall receive longevity pay - five-dollars (\$5) per month (thirty-five (\$35) for each year of service) in addition to his or her regular pay. Thereafter on each anniversary of each year they shall receive five dollars (\$5) per month for each year of service to a maximum of twenty-five (25) years - one hundred twenty-five dollars (\$125) per month. Payment shall commence on the first day of the month following the employee's anniversary date. Effective the first full pay period in January 2009, longevity will be eliminated as a separate compensation item and will be added to the base wage where it shall be increased automatically as future wage increases occur. The Parties agree for comparability purposes, this collective bargaining agreement provides such longevity as an element of wages.

Section 11.3 Premium. Licensed social workers who maintain current licensure by the State of Washington will receive premium pay of twenty-nine cents (29ϕ) per hour, effective on the first day of the next payroll period following the date of licensure. Effective the first pay period 2008 matrix rates are implemented in the payroll computer system, Licensed Social Worker premium will be eliminated as a separate compensation item and will be added to the base wage for range 46A where it shall be increased automatically, as future wage increases occur.

Section 11.4 Probationary Period. Employees shall be on probation during their first six (6) months of employment, provided; however, any unpaid absences will extend the probationary period by the total number of days absent from County facilities for any non-County reason. Probationary periods can be extended for up to six (6) months with mutual agreement by the Union and the County provided the Union is notified at least ten (10) calendar days prior to the end of the probationary period.

Section 11.5 Step Increases. Step increases are awarded per Addendum B (based on an overall performance evaluation rating of "meets job requirements") on the first day of the month in which the employee's anniversary/step date falls.

Section 11.6 Electronic Contact. The parties agree that a public health emergent situation may be identified by the Director, or designee, as requiring a bargaining unit member with specific expertise, which is otherwise not readily available, to remain in electronic contact with the Department. During such periods, assigned employees shall receive eight dollars and seventy cents (\$8.70) per day. When employees respond in person, they will be compensated per Article 4.10 Emergency Callbacks. When employees respond telephonically, they shall

receive one (1) hour minimum pay per incident at the rate of time and one-half ($1\frac{1}{2}$) at any time they respond outside normal work hours. To the extent reasonable and practical, employees shall respond electronically as opposed to in person.

ARTICLE 12 - NO STRIKE - NO LOCKOUT

There shall be no work stoppage, slowdown, picketing, boycott, sympathy strike, refusal to cross a picket line, or lockout concerning matters covered by the Agreement for its duration. Any action of the County in closing operations during a riot or civil commotion, for the protection of the property, shall not be deemed a lockout. Notwithstanding the foregoing, it shall not be considered grounds for discipline or discharge for employees to observe a lawful picket line except when the Health Director has directed a member of the bargaining unit to cross the picket line to perform duties immediately and directly necessary for the protection of the public health.

ARTICLE 13 – CLASSIFICATIONS

Section 13.1 Job Assignments. The County shall assign the work of employees. The County at its discretion may shift employees within a job classification to operate more efficiently, to fill a vacancy, for training purposes, for better fit, or for any other business needs.

Section 13.1.1 Written Notice of Interest. Bargaining unit members may provide written notice to their manager of their interest in a specific area of assignment within their classification. Such requests will be kept on file by the Manager for two years and considered when a vacancy occurs within an employee's current classification.

Section 13.2 Out-of-Class Pay. When an employee works in a higher classification for five (5) or more working days, such employee shall be paid at the higher rate of pay.

Section 13.2a Training. Section 13.1 shall not apply to employees being trained for one (1) calendar month in a higher classification. During such training, employees shall not be paid above their regular rate of pay.

Section 13.3 Temporary Assignments. An employee may be temporarily assigned the duties of a lower classification without suffering a reduction in pay.

Section 13.4 Pay Ranges. The County shall place employees in a pay range that is consistent with their duties, responsibilities and job content. Disputes regarding proper pay range placement shall be subject to negotiations.

Section 13.4.1 Classifications. Any changes, additions or deletions of classifications shall be subject to negotiations.

ARTICLE 14 - HIRING AND PROMOTIONS

Section 14.1 Job Posting. When vacancies or new jobs occur in positions covered by

this Agreement, the County shall post the position and specific details on the County's internal website. Employees may subscribe to receive immediate notification at the time the posting is published. It is understood that the County may shift employees within a job classification to fill vacancies without first posting the vacancy.

Section 14.2 Openings. Preference in filling bargaining unit vacancies and new positions created during the term of this Agreement, including supervisory positions, will be given to regular employees having the necessary qualifications, except as restricted by the Layoff and Recall Article of this Agreement.

Section 14.2.1 Bargaining Unit Members Considered First. Preference in hiring and promotion shall mean that qualified regular employees who apply for such position shall be considered first, and applications from outside the Health Department will be considered only if the County decides not to make a selection from the employee applicants.

Section 14.3 Promotion Criteria. Except for supervisory positions (which the County may fill in accordance with its sole judgment), promotions will be based on meeting of qualifications, job knowledge, past performance and seniority. Where qualifications, job knowledge and past performance of applicants for non-supervisory positions are relatively equal, seniority will apply. For purposes of this Section, "Supervisory Positions" are Environmental Health Supervisor and Nutrition Supervisor.

Section 14.4 Promotion and Reclassifications. In the event of a promotion or reclassification, an employee shall move to the closest step in the new wage range as itemized below. All promotions are subject to a four (4) calendar month evaluation period (six (6) calendar months for supervisory positions) during which time, if an employee is unsuccessful, they shall be returned to their former classification. If during the one (1) month following appointment, the employee elects to, they shall be returned to his or her original classification retaining all seniority rights. The top wage step is defined as the highest step in a given range which is comprised of an increase in the wage component (as opposed to an increase in just the longevity component) over the preceding step.

- If a 5% increase would place the employee below the top wage step in the new range, the employee is placed in the new range in the step providing at least a 5% increase. The reclassification or promotion date becomes the date from which to determine next step date.
- For employees currently below the top wage step, if a 5% increase would place the employee at or above the top wage step in the new range, the employee is placed in the top wage step. The reclassification or promotion date becomes the date from which to determine next step date.
- For employees currently at or above the top wage step, if a 5% increase would place the employee at or above the top wage step in the new range, the employee is placed in their new range at their current step and maintains their current next step date.

Section 14.4.1 EHS Promotions. Promotion to Environmental Health Specialist II is effective the first pay period following written notification to the County of the employee

passing the RS/REHS examination so long as the employee meets the minimum qualifications of the position. The promotion date becomes the date from which the next step date is determined.

Section 14.5 Position Realignment. The Union may petition the County for realignment of a position by August 15 of any year to be effective the following January. A position shall be realigned if it is at least three percent (3%) below the average of the top step of comparable positions. For the purposes of this section, Whatcom's top step for comparability purposes shall be the last step before the new longevity-only step. For the positions to be reviewed, there must be at least four (4) matches to comparable counties or health districts (Benton, Cowlitz, Kitsap, Skagit, Thurston, Yakima). All comparable counties or health districts where matches exist must be used. If four (4) matches to comparable counties or health districts do not exist for the particular classification, then available comparables shall be used for guidance along with any additional comparability information the Union feels is reasonable and relevant. The County has the discretion to determine if a position is comparable but may not unreasonably deny a comparable. When realignment is justified in accordance with this provision, the position will be adjusted one range up and employees placed in the new range at their current step. The effective date of the realignment shall become the step increase date.

Section 14.6 Drivers Abstract. Employees who drive for County business shall comply with County Policy AD113001Z. Throughout employment the County may review an employee's driver's abstract.

Section 14.7 Background Checks. The County may review an employee's background.

Section 14.8 Ability to Cross Border. Employees must maintain the ability to cross the Canadian border if they are assigned to a position which may at any time require crossing the Canadian border. In the event U.S. employees are required to provide documents crossing the border where the cost to the employee would exceed \$50, the County and Union agree to meet and bargain the impact on employees.

ARTICLE 15 - EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES

Section 15.1 Non-Discrimination Clause. The County and the Union shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws prohibiting discrimination in employment, except as provided in Article 2 - Union Security and applicable law as provided in RCW 41.56. Where the masculine or feminine gender is used in this Agreement, it is used solely for the purpose of illustration and shall not be construed to indicate the sex of any employee or job applicant.

Section 15.2 Discipline and Discharge. The County shall take no adverse action against any employee including discipline, discharge or suspension without just cause, provided that a probationary employee (as defined in Section 11.4) may be summarily discharged.

Section 15.3 Union Representative. The union representative shall have access to

the office during business hours, providing he or she does not interfere or cause employees to neglect their work.

- Section 15.4 Negotiating Committee. One (1) employee of the bargaining unit shall be allowed paid time off for contract negotiation purposes. If the negotiations continue beyond the employee's regular workday, such employee shall not receive any pay beyond his or her regular work hours for participating in the negotiations. One (1) additional bargaining unit employee elected to serve on the negotiating committee will be released (without pay) from work to attend scheduled negotiating meetings. Upon request from the Union the County will provide a written statement of the dates and hours of release time and the employee's regular hourly rate.
- **Section 15.5 Bulletin Board.** The County shall provide bulletin board space for use by the Union in areas accessible to members of the bargaining unit.
- **Section 15.6 Access to Space.** The County shall, according to County policy AD118005Z, make available to the Union, meeting space, rooms, etc., for the purpose of labor and management activities that are for "governmental purposes" and, where such activities would not interfere with the normal work of the County, provided that bargaining unit employees who attend such meetings shall be on their own time.
- **Section 15.7 Copies.** The Union will provide copies of this Agreement and related materials to the County for distribution to new employees.
- **Section 15.8 Mileage Reimbursement.** The County agrees to reimburse employees for mileage based on Internal Revenue Service guidelines for the use of their own vehicle while on official County business.
- **Section 15.9 Personnel Files.** The employees covered by this Agreement may examine their personnel files.
- **Section 15.10 Discipline.** Employees shall have the right to Union representation at any meeting regarding the discussion of possible disciplinary action affecting the employee. If the employee desires Union representation, said employee shall be provided reasonable time to arrange for Union representation. Prior to such meeting, the supervisor involved shall notify the employee of his or her right to such representation.
- **Section 15.11 Performance Evaluations.** Any performance standards used to measure the performance of employees shall be fair, just and reasonable and uniformly applied throughout the Department.
- **Section 15.12 Electronic Funds Transfer.** All regular employees shall authorize paycheck deposit by electronic funds transfer (EFT) within thirty (30) days of employment.
- **Section 15.12.1 Changes.** Changes to a different institution or account require four (4) weeks notice and can be made no more than once per calendar quarter. The Executive or his or her designee may grant exceptions.

Section 15.12.2 Emergency Cessation. Employees may temporarily stop EFT in emergency situations with at least seven (7) calendar days notice before a scheduled payday. Employees must restart the EFT within three (3) months. The Executive or his or her designee may grant exceptions.

Section 15.12.3 Inability Waiver. Employees providing documentation of their inability to open a checking and/or savings account may have this requirement waived.

Section 15.13 Eligibility Quirks. If an employee fails to receive compensation in any month for eighty (80) hours as required by Articles 5, 6, 7 and 23 of the Agreement, and the failure is due to a quirk in scheduling and through no fault of the employee, the individual nevertheless shall be considered eligible for all applicable benefits during the month in question.

Section 15.14 Information Request Notice. The County shall, as soon as reasonably possible, notify an employee of any public disclosure request demanding the release of an employee's personal information.

ARTICLE 16 - LAYOFF AND RECALL

Section 16.1 Layoff. The County and the Union agree that seniority (defined as length of continuous service in one of the four Groups listed below) shall govern in layoff and recall procedures. In the event of a layoff, the County shall identify the position in the Group which is to be cut. This Article shall not apply to any probationary employees (defined as those employees with less than six (6) months of service).

Group I - Environmental Health

- 1. Environmental Health Supervisor
- 2. Environmental Health Specialist III
- 3. Environmental Health Specialist I and II
- 4 Environmental Health Technician I and II

Group II Nutrition

1. Community Nutrition Specialist

Group III - Social Work

1. Licensed Social Worker

Group IV - Health Education

1. Public Health Educator

In the event an employee transfers from one Group or from another bargaining unit to one of these Groups, the employee will go to the bottom of the seniority list within the Group, regardless of the seniority they held in the former Group or bargaining unit. However, they will retain their sick leave bank and vacation and longevity will be calculated from the date of hire by the County.

Section 16.2 Reduction of Hours. The above procedure shall apply in cases of reduction of hours of any job as well as layoff.

Section 16.3 Layoff Notice. The County will make a good faith effort to provide thirty (30) days (but not less than fifteen (15) calendar days) written notice to employees initially selected for layoff due to reduction in force. The County agrees in the event of a layoff or reduction of hours within the bargaining unit, the County will notify the Union to discuss the procedure to be utilized.

Section 16.4 Bumping Rights. If that employee is senior to another employee in the Group holding a position which is at the same or lower classification, and if the laid-off employee is qualified in the judgment of the Health Director to fill the position held by the junior employee, the senior employee may exercise seniority rights to "bump" the junior employee.

Employees bumping to a lower range will maintain at least their current rate of pay (but no higher than the top step of the position the employee bumps into). Employees bumping to a higher range will go to the step in the range which affords them a rate of pay at least equal to the amount they are receiving and no less than entry step. Provided, an employee who exercises seniority rights under Article 16.1, will be red-circled at their current wage rate through the end of the fiscal year.

Section 16.5 Loss of Seniority. An employee shall lose seniority under this agreement for the following reasons:

- a. Voluntary termination.
- b. Discharge for cause.
- c. Failure to return to work if first offer of recall is refused.
- d. Layoff for a period exceeding thirteen (13) months.

Section 16.6 Recall. No new employee shall be employed to perform work in the bargaining unit from which employees have been laid-off until all eligible laid-off employees possessing the minimum qualifications for said position have been offered re-employment. The order of recall shall be in the reverse order of lay-off.

Section 16.6.1 Recall Notice. An offer of re-employment shall be in writing and sent by registered or certified mail to the employee.

Section 16.6.2 Recall Rights. Employees recalled from layoff shall not forfeit previously accumulated seniority, or unpaid accrued sick leave. Vacation shall begin accruing at the same rate of accrual as at the time the layoff occurred.

ARTICLE 17 - ADVISORY COMMITTEE

The County and the Union agree to establish a Joint Advisory Committee consisting of up to three (3) unit representatives, including the Union representative, and up to three (3) representatives of the County, including a representative from Administrative Services –

Human Resources. The purpose of this Committee is to discuss matters of concern to employees or the County. The Committee shall function in an advisory capacity rather than a decision-making capacity and shall be for the purpose of discussing matters of concern to employees or the County and issue resolution. When either party desires to call a meeting of the committee, they will inform the other party (including the Union representative and Human Resources) in writing, at least one (1) week in advance, stating the subjects they wish to discuss. Discussions shall not be considered commitments on the part of either party unless confirmed as an agreement in writing and signed by the Union and the County.

ARTICLE 18 - RETIREMENT

All employees shall be covered by the Washington State Department of Retirement Systems in accordance with applicable law.

ARTICLE 19 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

Section 19.1 Stipulations. Working days as used in this Article shall be defined as Monday through Friday, excluding paid holidays. Probationary employees shall not be entitled to utilize this Grievance Procedure for any disciplinary actions that are taken by the County. Grievances shall be heard on work time except that no overtime shall be paid for grievance meetings unless the County agrees.

The Union shall notify the County as to the identity of the Shop Steward. The Shop Steward shall be allowed to administer the terms of this Agreement and investigate grievances on work time where practical and feasible.

Throughout the procedures as set forth in this Article, grievances may be presented by employees, and/or Shop Stewards and/or Union representatives. Grievances of general concern to the bargaining unit may be initiated at Step 2 of this Article.

In the event of any dispute arising as to the interpretation or application of this Agreement, it shall be handled in the following manner:

- **Step 1 Complaint.** The employee and/or the shop steward must take up the complaint with his or her supervisor within ten (10) working days after the employee should have been reasonably aware of the alleged contract violation, or it shall be considered null and void. Every effort shall be made to settle the complaint at this level. If it is not resolved within five (5) working days after submission, the matter may proceed to Step 2.
- **Step 2 Grievance**. The employee, within the next ten (10) working days, shall reduce the grievance to writing and present it personally, or through his or her Union representative, to the Human Resources Manager or his or her designee. If not resolved at this level within the next twenty (20) working days, the Union may refer the dispute to final and binding arbitration as provided below.

Section 19.2 Arbitration Upon receipt by either the Union or the County of a written request for arbitration of a dispute which has been processed in accordance with the

procedures set forth above, representatives of the County and the Union shall attempt to agree upon an arbitrator. In the event no agreement has been reached on the selection of an arbitrator within ten (10) working days from the receipt of the request for arbitration, the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service shall be requested to submit a list of eleven (11) qualified arbitrators living in the Northwest from which list the arbitrator shall be selected by alternatively striking one (1) name from the list until only one (1) name shall remain. A hearing shall be conducted by the arbitrator as soon thereafter as is practicable. The decision of the arbitrator shall be rendered within thirty (30) calendar days after the close of the hearing and such decision shall be final and binding upon all parties. Any decision rendered shall be within the scope of this Agreement and shall not add to or subtract from any of the terms of the Agreement. In all matters submitted to arbitration, each party to the arbitration shall bear the entire cost of its own witnesses and representatives. The cost of the arbitrator and all other mutually incurred expenses of the arbitration shall be borne equally by the parties.

Section 19.3 Time Limits. Time limits referred to in this Article must be strictly adhered to, but may be waived by mutual agreement in writing. It is the intent of the parties that all procedures set forth herein shall be complied with as expeditiously as practicable.

ARTICLE 20 - SUBORDINATION OF AGREEMENT

It is understood that the parties hereto and the employees of the County are governed by the provisions of applicable federal and state law. When any provisions thereof are in conflict with, or are different than the provisions of this Agreement, the provisions of said federal or state law are paramount and shall prevail.

ARTICLE 21 - SAVINGS CLAUSE

If any article of this Agreement or any addenda thereto is held invalid by operation of law or by any tribunal of competent jurisdiction, or if compliance with, or enforcement of, any article is restrained by such tribunal, the remainder of this Agreement and addenda shall not be affected thereby, and the parties shall enter into immediate collective bargaining negotiations for the purpose of arriving at a mutually satisfactory replacement for such article.

ARTICLE 22 - CONTRACTING OUT

Section 22.1 Bargaining Unit Work. All bargaining unit work of the County shall be performed by bargaining unit employees except where it can be clearly demonstrated that the required expertise is not available, or when work required for special projects of limited duration cannot be performed without excessive overtime hours, or when the County does not own the equipment necessary to perform the work or such equipment owned by the County is not currently available. The County will not subcontract work normally performed by bargaining unit employees if, at the time the work is initially to be subcontracted, employees are on layoff who are entitled to recall to positions which normally perform such work or the subcontracting would result in the layoff of employees who normally perform such work.

Section 22.2 Contracting Out. Except in emergency situations, if the County proposes

to contract out bargaining unit work as described above, the reasons for doing so shall be supplied to the Union with ample time for discussion of such decision.

ARTICLE 23 – GROUP INSURANCE

Section 23.1 Health & Welfare. The County agrees to make monthly contributions for employees, their spouses and dependents towards the following plans.

- a) Medical Whatcom County Self-Insured Cap Plan, or any successor plan
- b) Dental Washington Dental Service, or any successor plan
- c) Vision WCIF Standard Plan or any successor plan.

Section 23.1.1 Life. The County agrees to pay the entire employee only premium for life insurance through a carrier to be selected by the County Life insurance benefits for employees will be equivalent to one year's base salary to a maximum of \$50,000.

Section 23.1.2 Long-Term Disability. The County agrees to pay the entire employee premium for long-term disability insurance coverage for eligible bargaining unit employees through a carrier to be selected by the County comparable to the current level of benefit.

Section 23.1.3 Disputes. The County and the Union agree that any dispute over a denial of coverage under the medical plan provided in Article 23.1a may be appealed, through Human Resources to the County Executive for final resolution.

Section 23.2 Premium Payments.

- a) Medical. For Plan Year 2019, the County shall fund a Medical plan up to \$1,297.00 per month for each eligible employee for full family medical coverage. For Plan Year 2020, the County shall fund the self-insured Medical Plan at \$1,362.00 per month for each eligible employee for full family medical coverage. Employees will elect their next year's plan choice during an open enrollment period in November.
- b) Medical Schedule of Benefits. The schedule of benefits for the Self-insured Plans may require modification during the life of the agreement in order that coverage can be provided within the County's contribution as established above. The parties agree that at any time the County may change the schedule of benefits in order to be legally compliant with applicable law or changes in plan administrator or administration. The parties agree the County is not required to enhance the Medical Plan.
- c) Dental, Vision, Life & LTD. The County agrees to pay the appropriate monthly premium amounts and such increases as required to maintain the dental, vision, life and LTD benefits listed above.
- **23.2.1 Plan 2000 Non-Qualified High Deductible**. For Plan Years 2019 and 2020, employees may elect a non-qualified high deductible plan with no payroll deduction. This is the default medical plan.

- a. Non-Qualified High Deductible. The County anticipates the continuation of an employee Non-Qualified High Deductible option as would be constituted/revised following the application of section 23.2 b) (Medical Schedule of Benefits) with no payroll deductions.
- **23.2.2** Qualified High Deductible Plan (QHDHP) and Health Savings Account). For Plan Years 2019 and 2020 employees may elect to participate in the Qualified High Deductible Plan with no payroll deduction. Employees may be enrolled in a Health Savings Account (HSA) if otherwise qualified to have such an account. The County will contribute one-time seed money for first time enrollees in 2019 and 2020 to a voluntary HSA, a total of \$1,250 per employee if signing up as an employee only OR \$2,500 per employee if also signing up to cover dependents. One-half (50%) of the annual HSA contribution amount will be funded in January and the balance will be contributed in eleven (11) equal monthly amounts for the remaining months of the year.
- a. Qualified High Deductible Plan. The County anticipates the continuation of an employee Qualified High Deductible option as would be constituted/revised following the application of Section 23.2 b) (Medical Schedule of Benefits) with no payroll deductions.
- **b.** Part-time Employees. Health Savings Account contributions for part-time employees will be pro-rated based on currently assigned, but not more than their budgeted FTE.
- c. New Hires. New hires that choose the Qualified High Deductible Health Plan (QHDHP) will be eligible to establish a HSA, if they are otherwise qualified to have such an account. The County will contribute to the HSA a total of up to \$1,000 for employee only OR up to \$2,000 for employee if signing up to cover dependents. One-half (50%) will be contributed the first paycheck they are eligible for medical benefits and enrolled in the HSA with either \$45.45 (employee only) OR \$90.91 (employee plus dependents) contributed by the County throughout the remaining months of the year.
- 23.2.3 Optional Contributory Plan. For Plan Years 2019 and 2020, employees may elect to buy-up to the optional Contributory Plan via authorized monthly payroll deduction as set forth in the Summary of Medical Plan Changes published prior to open enrollment for the next plan year. Should the County's Benefit Consultant's Renewal Projection for 2019 or 2020 be more than amount set forth in Article 23.2 a), modifications to the plan will be made to the plan per Article 23.2 b).
- **Section 23.2.4 Employee HSA Contribution.** Employees participating in the Health Savings Account are also eligible to contribute to their Whatcom County Health Savings Account (HSA) through payroll deduction.
- **Section 23.3 Eligibility Criteria.** Contributions will begin the first of the month following eighty (80) compensated hours of employment in one (1) calendar month. The term compensation as used herein is defined to be payment of wages for work performed, vacation, accrued sick leave, or other paid leave; provided that said work, vacation and/or other paid

leave must equal or exceed payment for eighty (80) hours in a calendar month. Income resulting from an industrial injury to a maximum of twelve (12) months from the date of the injury shall be credited as compensation.

23.3.1 Employees Working Less than 1.0 FTE. Employees in budgeted positions of less than 1.0 FTE, and not participating in a voluntary job share agreement pursuant to LOU #2, shall contribute a prorated cost for the medical plan they chose in relation to their budgeted full-time equivalency (FTE) for full family medical coverage. This provision does not apply to any current employee in a 0.9 FTE position who was hired before January 2017.

Section 23.4 Flex 125. All members of the bargaining unit will be eligible to participate in the County's Flexible Spending Account Plan ("Flex 125 Plan").

Section 23.5 Advisory Committee. In the event the schedule of benefits is to be modified as provided in 23.2 b), the County shall convene the Medical Advisory Committee. The union shall be given advance notice of such meeting and shall be afforded the opportunity to designate one of its members to attend and participate in the meeting. The Medical Advisory Committee shall not replace the parties' RCW 41.56 obligations. The County intends (but does not guarantee data availability) to review medical utilization cost and medical benefits beginning in July of each year in preparation for Cap Plan choices for the following year.

Section 23.6 Retiree Medical Benefits. The County agrees to follow state law regarding retiree medical benefits.

ARTICLE 24 - INDEMNITY AND HOLD HARMLESS AGREEMENT

The County agrees to hold harmless employees for all damages, including attorney fees, which they may suffer as a result of lawsuits commenced against them arising out of their activities which are within the scope of their employment for Whatcom County. Should the employee's actions be outside the scope of their employment, or the allegations contained in the complaint allege actions which, if proven, would be outside the scope of their employment; or be intentional torts, then the County will not pay that judgment. In addition, the employee will hire counsel. Whatcom County will compensate the employee in a timely manner for that counsel on a reservation of rights basis. This means, if the allegation contained in the complaint is proven then the County will not pay the judgment and the employee will be responsible for reimbursing the County for its attorney fees. However, should the allegation of intentional tort not be proven but merely negligence, then the County will pay the judgment and will not seek reimbursement for the attorney fees.

The Indemnity and Hold Harmless Agreement will be interpreted such that the only circumstances in which the County will not pay a judgment against an employee and the employee will be responsible for reimbursing the County for attorney's fees paid pursuant to a reservation of rights is where it is actually found that the employee acted outside the scope of his or her employment or committed an intentional tort.

ARTICLE 25 - DURATION

This Agreement, including Letters of Understanding #1 and #2 shall be effective upon date of adoption except for those provisions of the Agreement which have been assigned other effective dates as herein set forth, and shall remain in full force and effect to and including the 31st day of December, 2020. Negotiations shall begin at least ninety (90) days prior to expiration.

This Agreement contains the entire understanding and agreement between the parties. Changes to this Agreement, whether by addition, deletion, amendment or modification, must be reduced to writing and executed by both the County and the Union.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement this 21st day of May, 2019.

WHATCOM COUNTY

Whatcom County Executive

Jack Louws

PROFESSIONAL AND TECHNICAL EMPLOYEES, LOCAL NO. 17

Karen Estevenin
Executive Director

Tom Kunesh

Bargaining Unit Committee Member

Annie Costello

Local 17 Union Representative

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Elizabeth Gallery

Civil Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

ADDENDUM A TO THE AGREEMENT by and between WHATCOM COUNTY, WASHINGTON and PROFESSIONAL AND TECHNICAL EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 17

Position Title Index

Range	Position
51A	Environmental Health Supervisor
51	Nutrition Supervisor
48	Environmental Health Specialist III
47	Environmental Health Program Coordinator
46A	Licensed Social Worker
44B	Environmental Health Specialist II
44A	Nutritionist
44A	Community Nutrition Specialist
44	Public Health Educator
40	Environmental Health Specialist I
37	Environmental Health Technician II
33	Environmental Health Technician I

ADDENDUM B

Wages

Professional and Technical Employees - Local 17

	2019 F	2019 Hourly Matrix - Effective June 3, 201	latrix - E	-ffective	June 3, 2	(42.50%)	.50%)					36 month	36 months of service to move to next step	to move to	next step	
\$18.00\$18.0 <th< th=""><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>12 mc</th><th>onths of se</th><th></th><th>ove to nex</th><th>t step</th><th></th><th></th><th>(3</th><th>6 months at</th><th>step 10 req</th><th>uired to mo</th><th>ve to step 1</th><th>1</th></th<>				12 mc	onths of se		ove to nex	t step			(3	6 months at	step 10 req	uired to mo	ve to step 1	1
\$18.00 \$18.78 \$19.64 \$20.54 \$21.52 \$23.10 \$24.17 \$24.27 \$24.37 \$24.46 \$24.56 \$24.66 \$23.70 \$21.31 \$27.32 \$27.32 \$27.43 \$27.54 \$27.56 \$27.77 \$27.27 \$27.28 \$27.76 \$27.76 \$27.76 \$27.76 \$27.76 \$27.77 \$27.87 \$27.76 \$27.76 \$27.76 \$27.76 \$27.76 \$27.77 \$27.28 \$27.74 \$23.78 \$23.77 \$23.78 \$23.77 \$23.78 \$23.78 \$23.79 \$23.79 \$23.79 \$23.79 \$23.79 \$23.79 \$23.79 \$23.79<	Range	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	CATANINA SERVICE	Step 11	Step 12	Step 13	Step 14	Step 15
\$20.36\$21.33\$22.36\$23.48\$24.60\$25.80\$27.11\$27.11\$27.21\$27.32\$27.34\$27.54\$27.55\$20.65\$22.21\$23.25\$24.38\$25.59\$26.84\$28.15\$29.53\$29.53\$29.65\$29.77\$29.89\$30.01\$30.13\$30.25\$26.06\$27.31\$28.44\$30.05\$31.18\$31.18\$31.49\$31.40\$31.67\$31.87\$32.00\$32.13\$32.00\$25.81\$27.31\$28.40\$28.80\$31.25\$32.81\$34.34\$34.47\$34.61\$34.75\$34.89\$32.33\$32.17\$28.40\$29.80\$31.25\$32.81\$32.32\$37.00\$37.74\$37.89\$38.05\$38.20\$38.50\$38.66\$28.40\$29.80\$31.25\$32.81\$34.02\$37.74\$37.89\$38.05\$38.20\$38.35\$38.50\$28.40\$29.80\$31.25\$32.81\$34.64\$36.28\$37.73\$36.28\$37.74\$37.89\$37.75\$38.05\$38.05\$27.33\$28.64\$30.02\$31.51\$32.99\$34.64\$40.27\$40.44\$40.59\$40.92\$41.08\$41.25\$33.06\$33.64\$36.41\$38.18\$39.64\$41.14\$43.04\$44.09\$44.27\$44.44\$44.62\$44.80\$44.98	25	\$18.00	\$18.78	\$19.64	\$20.54	\$21.52	\$22.52	\$23.70	\$24.17	\$24.27	\$24.37	\$24.46	\$24.56	\$24.66	\$24.76	\$24.86
\$22.21\$23.25\$24.38\$25.59\$26.84\$28.15\$29.53\$29.53\$29.65\$29.77\$29.89\$30.01\$30.13\$30.25\$26.06\$27.31\$28.64\$30.05\$31.18\$31.18\$31.49\$31.62\$31.62\$31.87\$32.00\$32.13\$32.26\$26.06\$27.31\$28.64\$28.64\$30.05\$31.18\$31.18\$31.49\$31.62\$31.67\$31.87\$32.80\$32.81\$32.81\$28.40\$29.80\$31.25\$32.81\$34.02\$35.32\$37.00\$37.74\$37.89\$38.05\$38.35\$38.50\$38.66\$28.40\$29.80\$31.25\$32.81\$34.02\$35.32\$37.00\$37.74\$37.89\$38.05\$38.35\$38.50\$38.66\$28.40\$29.80\$31.25\$32.81\$34.64\$36.28\$37.70\$37.79\$37.29\$37.44\$37.59\$37.74\$37.90\$30.31\$31.81\$39.64\$41.14\$43.04\$44.09\$44.47\$44.62\$44.80\$44.89\$33.06\$34.67\$36.41\$43.04\$43.91\$44.09\$44.46\$44.62\$44.80\$44.98	33	\$20.36	\$21.33	\$22.36	\$23.48	\$24.60	\$25.80	\$27.11	\$27.11	\$27.21	\$27.32	\$27.43	\$27.54	\$27.65	\$27.76	\$27.87
\$26.06\$27.31\$28.64\$30.05\$31.18\$31.18\$31.49\$31.49\$31.65\$31.75\$31.87\$32.00\$32.13\$32.26\$25.81\$25.81\$23.80\$31.25\$32.81\$34.34\$34.34\$34.47\$34.61\$34.75\$34.89\$35.03\$35.17\$28.40\$29.80\$31.25\$32.81\$34.02\$35.32\$37.00\$37.74\$37.89\$38.50\$38.35\$38.50\$38.66\$27.33\$28.64\$30.02\$31.51\$32.99\$34.64\$36.28\$37.00\$37.74\$37.89\$37.79\$37.44\$37.59\$37.74\$37.90\$30.31\$31.81\$33.37\$35.01\$36.36\$37.73\$39.49\$40.27\$40.43\$40.59\$40.75\$40.92\$41.08\$41.25\$33.06\$34.67\$36.41\$38.18\$39.64\$41.14\$43.04\$44.09\$44.44\$44.62\$44.80\$44.98	37	\$22.21	\$23.25	\$24.38	\$25.59	\$26.84	\$28.15	\$29.53	\$29.53	\$29.65	\$29.77	\$29.89	\$30.01	\$30.13	\$30.25	\$30.37
\$25.81\$27.07\$28.40\$29.80\$31.25\$32.81\$34.34\$34.34\$34.47\$34.61\$34.75\$34.89\$35.03\$35.17\$28.40\$29.80\$31.25\$32.81\$34.02\$35.32\$37.00\$37.74\$37.89\$38.05\$38.35\$38.50\$38.50\$28.40\$29.80\$31.25\$32.81\$34.64\$35.32\$37.00\$37.74\$37.89\$38.05\$38.35\$38.50\$38.66\$27.33\$28.64\$30.02\$31.51\$32.99\$34.64\$36.28\$37.00\$37.15\$40.43\$40.59\$40.75\$40.92\$41.08\$41.25\$30.31\$31.81\$38.81\$39.64\$41.14\$43.04\$44.09\$44.27\$44.44\$44.62\$44.80\$44.98\$33.06\$34.67\$36.41\$38.18\$39.64\$41.14\$43.04\$43.91\$44.09\$44.47\$44.46\$44.80\$44.89	40	\$26.06	\$27.31	\$28.64	\$30.05	\$31.18	\$31.18	\$31.49	\$31.49	\$31.62	\$31.75	\$31.87	\$32.00	\$32.13	\$32.26	\$32.39
\$28.40\$29.80\$31.25\$32.81\$34.02\$35.32\$37.00\$37.74\$37.89\$38.05\$38.20\$38.35\$38.50\$38.56\$28.40\$28.80\$31.25\$32.81\$34.02\$35.32\$37.00\$37.74\$37.89\$38.05\$38.35\$38.50\$38.50\$27.33\$28.64\$30.02\$31.51\$32.99\$34.64\$36.28\$37.00\$37.15\$37.29\$37.44\$37.59\$37.74\$37.90\$30.31\$31.81\$33.37\$36.36\$37.73\$39.49\$40.27\$40.43\$40.59\$40.75\$40.92\$41.08\$41.25\$33.06\$34.67\$36.41\$38.18\$39.64\$41.14\$43.04\$43.91\$44.09\$44.44\$44.62\$44.80\$44.89	44	\$25.81	\$27.07	\$28.40	\$29.80	\$31.25	\$32.81	\$34.34	\$34.34	\$34.47	\$34.61	\$34.75	\$34.89	\$35.03	\$35.17	\$35.31
\$28.40\$29.80\$31.25\$32.81\$34.64\$36.28\$37.70\$37.75\$37.29\$37.74\$37.73\$37.73\$37.29\$37.74\$37.73\$37.73\$37.74\$37.74\$37.74\$37.74\$37.74\$37.74\$37.74\$30.31\$31.81\$33.37\$36.36\$34.64\$40.27\$40.43\$40.59\$40.75\$40.92\$41.08\$41.25\$33.06\$34.67\$36.41\$38.18\$39.64\$41.14\$43.04\$43.91\$44.09\$44.27\$44.44\$44.62\$44.80\$44.98	44A	\$28.40	\$29.80	\$31.25	\$32.81	\$34.02	\$35.32	\$37.00	\$37.74	\$37.89	\$38.05	\$38.20	\$38.35	\$38.50	\$38.66	\$38.81
\$27.33\$28.64\$30.02\$31.51\$32.99\$34.64\$36.28\$37.00\$37.15\$37.15\$37.29\$37.44\$37.74\$37.90\$30.31\$30.31\$33.37\$35.01\$36.36\$37.73\$39.49\$40.27\$40.43\$40.59\$40.75\$40.92\$41.08\$41.05\$33.06\$34.67\$36.41\$38.18\$39.64\$41.14\$43.04\$43.91\$44.09\$44.47\$44.44\$44.62\$44.80\$44.89	448	\$28.40	\$29.80	\$31.25	\$32.81	\$34.02	\$35.32	\$37.00	\$37.74	\$37.89	\$38.05	\$38.20	\$38.35	\$38.50	\$38.66	\$38.81
\$30.31\$31.81\$33.37\$35.01\$36.36\$37.73\$39.49\$40.27\$40.43\$40.43\$40.59\$40.92\$40.92\$41.08\$41.25\$33.06\$34.67\$36.41\$38.18\$39.64\$41.14\$43.04\$43.91\$44.09\$44.27\$44.44\$44.62\$44.80\$44.98	46A	\$27.33	\$28.64	\$30.02	\$31.51	\$32.99	\$34.64	\$36.28	\$37.00	\$37.15	\$37.29	\$37.44	\$37.59	\$37.74	\$37.90	\$38.05
\$33.06 \$34.67 \$36.41 \$38.18 \$39.64 \$41.14 \$43.04 \$44.09 \$44.27 \$44.44 \$44.62 \$44.80 \$44.98	48	\$30.31	\$31.81	\$33.37	\$35.01	\$36.36	\$37.73	\$39.49	\$40.27	\$40.43	\$40.59	\$40.75	\$40.92	\$41.08	\$41.25	\$41.41
\$33.06 \$34.67 \$36.41 \$38.18 \$39.64 \$41.14 \$43.04 \$43.91 \$44.09 \$44.27 \$44.44 \$44.62 \$44.80 \$44.98	51	\$33.06	\$34.67	\$36.41	\$38.18	\$39.64	\$41.14	\$43.04	\$43.91	\$44.09	\$44.27	\$44.44	\$44.62	\$44.80	\$44.98	\$45.16
	51A	\$33.06	\$34.67	\$36.41	\$38.18	\$39.64	\$41.14	\$43.04	\$43.91	\$44.09	\$44.27	\$44.44	\$44.62	\$44.80	\$44.98	\$45.16

2019 M	2019 Monthly Matrix (for References Purposes Only)	atrix (for F	eferences P	urposes Only	(36 month	36 months of service to move to next step	to move to	next sten	
			12 mc	12 months of service	rvice to m	e to move to next step	t step			(3	6 months at	(36 months at step 10 required to move to step 11	uired to mo	ve to step 1	
Range	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Step 11	Step 12	Step 13	Step 14	Step 15
25	\$3,121	\$3,255	\$3,404	\$3,560	\$3,731	\$3,903	\$4,108	\$4,190	\$4,207	\$4,224	.\$4,240	\$4,257	\$4,274	\$4,292	\$4,309
33	\$3,529	\$3,697	\$3,875	\$4,071	\$4,264	\$4,471	\$4,698	\$4,698	\$4,717	\$4,736	\$4,755	\$4,774	\$4,793	\$4,812	\$4,831
37	\$3,850	\$4,030	\$4,225	\$4,436	\$4,651	\$4,880	\$5,119	\$5,119	\$5,139	\$5,160	\$5,180	\$5,201	\$5,222	\$5,243	\$5,264
40	\$4,516	\$4,733	\$4,964	\$5,209	\$5,404	\$5,404	\$5,459	\$5,459	\$5,481	\$5,503	\$5,525	\$5,547	\$5,569	\$5,591	\$5,614
44	\$4,473	\$4,692	\$4,923	\$5,166	\$5,416	\$2,688	\$5,952	\$5,952	\$5,975	\$5,999	\$6,023	\$6,047	\$6,072	\$6,09\$	\$6,120
44A	\$4,923	\$5,166	\$5,416	\$2,688	\$5,897	\$6,122	\$6,413	\$6,542	\$6,568	\$6,594	\$6,621	\$6,647	\$6,674	\$6,701	\$6,727
44B	\$4,923	\$5,166	\$5,416	\$2,688	\$5,897	\$6,122	\$6,413	\$6,542	\$6,568	\$6,594	\$6,621	\$6,647	\$6,674	\$6,701	\$6,727
46A	\$4,737	\$4,964	\$5,203	\$5,461	\$5,719	\$6,004	\$6,288	\$6,413	\$6,439	\$6,464	\$6,490	\$6,516	\$6,542	\$6,568	\$6,595
48	\$5,254	\$5,514	\$5,783	\$6,069	\$6,302	\$6,540	\$6,845	\$6,980	\$7,008	\$2,036	\$7,064	\$7,092	\$7,121	\$7,149	\$7,178
51	\$5,731	\$6,010	\$6,311	\$6,618	\$6,870	\$7,130	\$7,461	\$7,611	\$7,642	\$7,672	\$7,703	\$7,734	\$7,765	\$7,796	\$7,827
51A	\$5,731	\$6,010	\$6,311	\$6,618	\$6,870	\$7,130	\$7,461	\$7,611	\$7,642	\$7,672	\$7,703	\$7,734	\$7,765	\$7,796	\$7,827

2020	2020 Hourly Matrix - Effective January 2020 (+2.0%)	latrix - E	ffective	January	2020 (+2	(%0:					36 month	s of service	36 months of service to move to next step	next sten	
			12 mt	12 months of servi	rvice to mo	ce to move to next step	t step			•	6 months at	t step 10 red	(36 months at step 10 required to move to step 11	ve to step 1	1
Range	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Step 11	Step 12	Step 13	Step 14	Step 15
25	\$18.36	\$19.16	\$20.03	\$20.95	\$21.95	\$22.97	\$24.17	\$24.66	\$24.76	\$24.85	\$24.95	\$25.05	\$25.15	\$25.25	\$25.36
33	\$20.77	\$21.76	\$22.80	\$23.95	\$25.09	\$26.31	\$27.65	\$27.65	\$27.76	\$27.87	\$27.98	\$28.09	\$28.21	\$28.32	\$28.43
37	\$22.65	\$23.71	\$24.86	\$26.11	\$27.37	\$28.72	\$30.12	\$30.12	\$30.24	\$30.36	\$30.48	\$30.61	\$30.73	\$30.85	\$30.98
40	\$26.58	\$27.86	\$29.21	\$30.65	\$31.80	\$31.80	\$32.12	\$32.12	\$32.25	\$32.38	\$32.51	\$32.64	\$32.77	\$32.90	\$33.03
44	\$26.32	\$27.61	\$28.97	\$30.40	\$31.87	\$33.47	\$35.02	\$35.02	\$35.16	\$35.30	\$35.45	\$35.59	\$35.73	\$35.87	\$36.02
44A	\$28.97	\$30.40	\$31.87	\$33.47	\$34.70	\$36.02	\$37.74	\$38.50	\$38.65	\$38.81	\$38.96	\$39.12	\$39.27	\$39.43	\$39.59
448	\$28.97	\$30.40	\$31.87	\$33.47	\$34.70	\$36.02	\$37.74	\$38.50	\$38.65	\$38.81	\$38.96	\$39.12	\$39.27	\$39.43	\$39.59
46A	\$27.88	\$29.21	\$30.62	\$32.14	\$33.65	\$35.33	\$37.00	\$37.74	\$37.89	\$38.04	\$38.19	\$38.35	\$38.50	\$38.65	\$38.81
48	\$30.92	\$32.45	\$34.03	\$35.71	\$37.08	\$38.49	\$40.28	\$41.07	\$41.24	\$41.40	\$41.57	\$41.74	\$41.90	\$42.07	\$42.24
51	\$33.72	\$35.37	\$37.14	\$38.95	\$40.43	\$41.96	\$43.90	\$44.79	\$44.97	\$45.15	\$45.33	\$45.51	\$45.69	\$45.88	\$46.06
51A	\$33.72	\$35.37	\$37.14	\$38.95	\$40.43	\$41.96	\$43.90	\$44.79	\$44.97	\$45.15	\$45.33	\$45.51	\$45.69	\$45.88	\$46.06

2020 M	2020 Monthly Matrix (for References Purposes Only)	atrix (for	References P	urposes Only	\$						36 month	36 months of service to move to next sten	to mone to	1000	
			12 mi	12 months of service to move to next step	rvice to m	ove to nex	tstep			9	6 months at	(36 months at step 10 required to move to step 11	uired to mo	ve to step 1	1
Range	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Step 11	Step 12	Step 13	Step 14	Step 15
25	\$3,183	\$3,320	\$3,472	\$3,632	\$3,805	\$3,981	\$4,190	\$4,274	\$4,291	\$4,308	\$4,325	\$4,343	\$4,360	\$4,377	\$4,395
33	\$3,600	\$3,771	\$3,953	\$4,152	\$4,350	\$4,561	\$4,792	\$4,792	\$4,811	\$4,831	\$4,850	\$4,869	\$4,889	\$4,908	\$4,928
37	\$3,927	\$4,110	\$4,310	\$4,525	\$4,744	\$4,978	\$5,221	\$5,221	\$5,242	\$5,263	\$5,284	\$5,305	\$5,326	\$5,348	\$5,369
40	\$4,607	\$4,828	\$5,063	\$5,313	\$5,512	\$5,512	\$5,568	\$5,568	\$5,590	\$5,613	529'5\$	\$2,658	\$5,680	\$5,703	\$5,726
44	\$4,563	\$4,786	\$5,022	\$5,269	\$5,524	\$5,801	\$6,071	\$6,071	\$6,095	\$6,119	\$6,144	\$6,168	\$6,193	\$6,218	\$6,243
44A	\$5,022	\$5,269	\$5,524	\$5,801	\$6,015	\$6,244	\$6,541	\$6,673	\$6,699	\$6,726	\$6,753	\$6,780	\$6,807	\$6,835	\$6,862
44B	\$5,022	\$5,269	\$5,524	\$5,801	\$6,015	\$6,244	\$6,541	\$6,673	\$6,699	\$6,726	\$6,753	\$6,780	\$6,807	\$6,835	\$6,862
46A	\$4,832	\$5,063	\$5,307	\$5,570	\$5,833	\$6,124	\$6,413	\$6,541	\$6,567	\$6,594	\$6,620	\$6,646	\$6,673	\$6,700	\$6,727
48	\$5,359	\$5,624	\$5,899	\$6,190	\$6,428	\$6,671	\$6,982	\$7,119	\$7,148	\$7,177	\$7,205	\$7,234	\$7,263	\$7,292	\$7,321
51	\$5,845	\$6,130	\$6,438	\$6,750	\$7,008	\$7,273	\$7,610	\$7,764	\$7,795	\$7,826	258'2\$	688′2\$	\$7,920	\$7,952	\$7,984
51A	\$5,845	\$6,130	\$6,438	\$6,750	\$7,008	\$7,273	\$7,610	\$7,764	\$7,795	\$7,826	\$7,857	\$7,889	\$7.920	\$7.952	\$7.984

-
3,
ģ
0
~
ŝ
Φ
~
ă
Page
Pag
Pag
Pag
Pac
Pac
Pac

2020 F	Jourly M	latrix -	2020 Hourly Matrix - Effective July 2020 (+1.0%)	July 202	0 (+1.0%	(36 month	is of service	36 months of service to move to next step	next step	
			12 mc	12 months of service		to move to next step	t step			(3	6 months at	step 10 rec	(36 months at step 10 required to move to step 11	ve to step 1	1
Range	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Step 11	Step 12	Step 13	Step 14	Step 15
25	\$18.55	\$19.35	\$20.23	\$21.16	\$22.17	\$23.20	\$24.41	\$24.90	\$25.00	\$25.10	\$25.20	\$25.30	\$25.41	\$25.51	\$25.61
33	\$20.98	\$21.97	\$23.03	\$24.19	\$25.35	\$26.58	\$27.92	\$27.92	\$28.04	\$28.15	\$28.26	\$28.37	\$28.49	\$28.60	\$28.72
37	\$22.88	\$23.95	\$25.11	\$26.37	\$27.65	\$29.00	\$30.42	\$30.42	\$30.54	\$30.67	\$30.79	\$30.91	\$31.04	\$31.16	\$31.29
40	\$26.84	\$28.13	\$29.50	\$30.96	\$32.12	\$32.12	\$32.45	\$32.45	\$32.58	\$32.71	\$32.84	\$32.97	\$33.10	\$33.23	\$33.36
44	\$26.59	\$27.89	\$29.26	\$30.70	\$32.19	\$33.80	\$35.37	\$35.37	\$35.51	\$35.66	\$35.80	\$35.94	\$36.09	\$36.23	\$36.38
44A	\$29.26	\$30.70	\$32.19	\$33.80	\$35.05	\$36.38	\$38.12	\$38.88	\$39.04	\$39.19	\$39.35	\$39.51	\$39.67	\$39.82	\$39.98
448	\$29.26	\$30.70	\$32.19	\$33.80	\$35.05	\$36.38	\$38.12	\$38.88	\$39.04	\$39.19	\$39.35	\$39.51	\$39.67	\$39.82	\$39.98
46A	\$28.16	\$29.50	\$30.92	\$32.46	\$33.99	\$35.69	\$37.37	\$38.12	\$38.27	\$38.42	\$38.57	\$38.73	\$38.88	\$39.04	\$39.20
48	\$31.22	\$32.77	\$34.37	\$36.07	\$37.45	\$38.87	\$40.68	\$41.49	\$41.65	\$41.82	\$41.99	\$42.15	\$42.32	\$42.49	\$42.66
51	\$34.06	\$35.72	\$37.51	\$39.34	\$40.83	\$42.38	\$44.34	\$45.24	\$45.42	\$45.60	\$45.78	\$45.97	\$46.15	\$46.34	\$46.52
51A	\$34.06	\$35.72	\$37.51	\$39.34	\$40.83	\$42.38	\$44.34	\$45.24	\$45.42	\$45.60	\$45.78	\$45.97	\$46.15	\$46.34	\$46.52

2020 M	2020 Monthly Matrix (for References Purposes Only)	atrix (for F	eferences P	urposes Only	()						36 month	36 months of service to move to next sten	to move to	next sten	
			12 m	12 months of service	rvice to m	to move to next step	t step			(3	6 months at	(36 months at step 10 required to move to step 11	uired to mo	ve to step 1	Н
Range	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Step 11	Step 12	Step 13	Step 14	Step 15
25	\$3,215	\$3,354	\$3,507	\$3,668	\$3,843	\$4,020	\$4,232	\$4,317	\$4,334	\$4,351	\$4,369	\$4,386	\$4,404	\$4,421	\$4,439
33	\$3,636	\$3,809	\$3,992	\$4,194	\$4,393	\$4,606	\$4,840	\$4,840	\$4,860	\$4,879	\$4,899	\$4,918	\$4,938	\$4,958	\$4,977
37	\$3,966	\$4,151	\$4,353	\$4,570	\$4,792	\$5,027	\$5,273	\$5,273	\$5,294	\$5,316	\$5,337	\$5,358	\$5,380	\$5,401	\$5,423
40	\$4,653	\$4,876	\$5,114	\$5,366	\$5,567	\$5,567	\$5,624	\$5,624	\$5,646	\$5,669	\$5,691	\$5,714	\$5,737	\$5,760	\$5,783
44	\$4,608	\$4,834	\$5,072	\$5,322	\$5,579	\$5,859	\$6,131	\$6,131	\$6,156	\$6,180	\$6,205	\$6,230	\$6,255	\$6,280	\$6,305
44A	\$5,072	\$5,322	\$5,579	\$5,859	\$6,075	\$6,306	\$6,607	\$6,739	\$6,766	\$6,794	\$6,821	\$6,848	\$6,875	\$6,903	\$6,930
448	\$5,072	\$5,322	\$5,579	\$5,859	\$6,075	\$6,306	\$6,607	\$6,739	\$6,766	\$6,794	\$6,821	\$6,848	\$6,875	\$6,903	\$6,930
46A	\$4,880	\$5,114	\$5,360	\$5,626	\$5,892	\$6,186	\$6,478	\$6,607	\$6,633	\$6,660	\$6,686	\$6,713	\$6,740	\$6,767	\$6,794
48	\$5,412	\$5,680	\$5,958	\$6,252	\$6,492	\$6,737	\$7,052	\$7,191	\$7,219	\$7,248	\$7,277	\$7,306	\$7,336	\$7,365	\$7,394
51	\$5,904	\$6,192	\$6,502	\$6,818	\$7,078	\$7,346	\$7,686	\$7,841	\$7,873	\$7,904	\$7,936	\$7,968	\$7,999	\$8,031	\$8,064
51A	\$5.904	\$6.192	\$6.502	\$6.818	\$7.078	\$7.346	\$7.686	\$7.841	\$7.873	\$7.904	\$7.936	\$7.968	\$7.999	\$8.031	\$8.064

ADDENDUM C

ALTERNATIVE WORK SCHEDULE REQUEST

Employee Name:	Position:
Effective Date	% Full-Time Equivalency (FTE):
Effective Date	

This schedule must be mutually agreed upon between the employee and employee's supervisor and have the written approval of employee's supervisor, division manager and director or designee, and Human Resources. The schedule request must meet the basic requirements outlined in sections 4.4.1, 4.9, 4.9.1 and 4.9.2 of the collective bargaining agreement and the following requirements:

- Full-time employee's alternate work schedule will be no more than 80 hours in a pay period.
- Part-time employees will schedule no more than forty (40) hours in a work week.
- The normal workweek begins Sunday at 12:00 a.m. and ends on Saturday at 12:00 p.m. For full-time employees on a 9/80 schedule, depending on the flex day, the workweek begins either 12:00 p.m. or 12:30 p.m. on Friday or Monday.
- The alternative schedule does not create a reduction in the effective hours of service to the public or increase the department's compensation cost.

	Day	Start Time- End Time (e.g. 7:00am-5:00pm	Estimated Lunch Break Schedule (e.g. 12:00 pm – 1:00)	Length of Lunch Break (e.g. 1 hour)	Total Hours Worked per Day
	Sunday				
	Monday				
	Tuesday				
Week #1	Wednesday				
	Thursday				
	Friday				
	Saturday				
Total Per Wee	k				
	Sunday				
	Monday				
	Tuesday				
Week #2	Wednesday				
	Thursday				
	Friday				
	Saturday				
Total Per Wee					

The parties agree above schedule requires on-going mutual agreement with no guarantee such schedule shall be continued. The parties understand that once a schedule is agreed upon and approved, there will be no floating or changing of flex days unless approved by the supervisor to recognize the impact of employee illnesses and vacations. The parties recognize that alternative schedules are a mutual benefit and must be worked as scheduled.

	Signature	Date
Employee		
Supervisor		
Division Manager		
Director or Designee		
Human Resources		

By and Between WHATCOM COUNTY and

PROFESSIONALAND TECHNICAL EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 17

This Letter of Understanding is by and between Whatcom County, hereafter called "the County" and Professional and Technical Employees Local 17, hereafter called "the Union" and is to confirm the following agreements reached during the recent negotiations and attached to the PTE Local 17 Collective Bargaining Agreement.

- 1. **Drug Testing.** Upon request by the County during the term of the contract, the Union shall meet and enter into negotiations on an alcohol and drug free workplace policy, including drug testing.
- 2. Group Insurance Eligibility. The new eligibility requirement of eighty (80) hours compensated in Article 23, Group Insurance is not applicable to any employee eligible for group insurance benefits on November 18, 1997 (Kelly Molaski, Tom Kunesh, Allison Williams, and James Hayes.) Such employees shall require seventy-five (75) hours compensated to meet group insurance eligibility requirements.

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #2 JOB SHARE AGREEMENT PROFESSIONAL AND TECHNICAL EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 17

This Letter of Understanding regarding Job Share Agreements is by and between Whatcom County, hereafter called "the County" and Professional and Technical Employees, Local 17, hereafter called "the Union" regarding and attached to the PTE Local 17 Collective Bargaining Agreement covering the period date adoption through December 31, 2020.

The purpose of this Letter of Understanding is to confirm our understanding and agreement that two employees may request a job share arrangement. Job share agreements shall not increase personnel costs for the County nor shall they unduly increase administrative burdens for the department or the County. Should the County approve the request, it is understood the employees would be voluntarily electing to share a 1.0 FTE (40 hours per week) position and that the County will only pay for the equivalent of one set of Health & Welfare benefits (medical, dental, vision, and life) subject to the following conditions:

VOLUNTARY JOB SHARE AGREEMENT

This fully executed Agreement must be in place prior to commencement of Job Share

JOB SHARE POSITION:	POSITION ID:
DEPARTMENT:	SUPERVISOR:
PARTICIPANT A:	PARTICIPANT B:
HOURS/MONTH:	HOURS/MONTH:
Health & Welfare Benefits ☐ Yes ☐ No	Health & Welfare Benefits ☐ Yes ☐ No

Agreement.

- Participants acknowledge they have voluntarily elected to equally share a 1.0 FTE position and agree to the conditions outlined in this Agreement.
- Participants together perform the duties of a full-time position. Total hours worked for both will not exceed an average of 173.33 regular hours per month (1.0 budgeted FTE), unless additional hours are designated as extra help hours.

Health & Welfare Benefits.

- Participants are eligible to receive employee-only medical, life and long-term disability coverage as well as employee and family dental and vision benefits, provided they meet eligibility requirements. Should an employee desire family medical coverage, contributions shall be deducted from paychecks.
- Participants who initially opt out of health & welfare benefits for dependents may enroll
 at a later date if a COBRA qualifying event occurs or during the month of November if
 circumstances change, provided no adverse selection to the plan results. In these

- situations, the eligibility requirements of each benefit plan must be met before coverage becomes effective.
- The County will make contributions to the appropriate health & welfare plans on behalf
 of employees who are regularly scheduled to work and who are compensated for at
 least eighty (80) hours per month.
- Participants who have not previously been on health and welfare benefits must meet eligibility requirements in the PTE Local 17 Agreement to be eligible for health and welfare benefits coverage. Employees whose health and welfare benefits are being reinstated will be subject to the waiting periods specified in plan documents.
- Participants who were on the payroll on November 18, 1997 can maintain their seventy-five (75) hour benefit eligibility threshold in the PTE Local 17 Bargaining Agreement while in a job share arrangement. This threshold will apply for eligibility for health & welfare benefits, sick leave accruals, holidays, and vacation accruals.

PARTICIPANT ELECTIONS

CHOICES	PARTICIPANT A (initial choice below)	PARTICIPANT B (initial choice below)
I elect medical coverage for my dependents and I will be obligated to pay via payroll deduction the amount established by the County for this coverage.		
I opt out of medical coverage for my dependents.		

Other Benefits.

- Each participant will accrue and use vacation and sick leave based on their agreed upon 0.5 FTE position. Participants can use accrued vacation or sick leave only for days and hours they are regularly scheduled to work.
- Each participant will receive four hours of holiday pay for each holiday where they meet
 the eligibility criteria in the PTE Local 17 Agreement, and each participant will receive
 four hours of personal holiday each calendar year. During weeks when a holiday
 occurs, participants must work with their supervisor to assure the required number of
 hours will be worked and/or compensated that week.
- Any additional leave (bereavement, etc.) will be no more than one-half the time (in hours) allowed in the PTE Local 17 Agreement or state or federal law.
- Participants individually accrue and have full use of seniority rights allowed under the PTE Local 17 Agreement.
- To be eligible for leave under the federal Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA), 1250 hours
 of time must be actually worked during the twelve months prior to the requested leave.
 Participants understand by entering this Agreement, they are likely forfeiting rights to
 FMLA.

• Since the 1.0 FTE position is Washington State Department of Retirement Systems eligible, participants and the County will contribute to the retirement system.

Compensation.

- Participants will be paid the appropriate hourly rate for actual hours worked. They will be eligible for step increases based on their individual anniversary date in the position.
- After meeting eligibility requirements for longevity, participants will receive one-half the
 appropriate longevity amount. Effective the first full pay period in January, 2009, per
 section 11.2, this section will be eliminated.
- Participants are eligible for overtime pursuant to section 4.4.1.

Schedules and Breaks.

- Participants' work schedules must be approved by, and may be changed by, their supervisor.
- The following Articles do NOT apply to participants:
 - a. Article 4, section 4.1 pertaining to Work Schedules
 - b. Article 4, section 4.3 pertaining to Lunch and Rest Breaks
 - c. Article 4, section 4.4 pertaining to Overtime
- Participants are allowed one paid fifteen (15) minute rest break during each four-hour work period after no more than three hours of work, and during each day where they work five (5) or more hours, they are entitled to an unpaid lunch break of thirty (30) to sixty (60) minutes.

Absence or Vacancy.

Participants understand that if one participant leaves his or her job share position, a new job share agreement must be executed. Upon separation or movement of a job share participant, the County will first offer the 1.0 FTE position to the remaining incumbent. If the participant desires to continue in a job share arrangement and the department concurs, he or she understands that, during a period of absence or vacancy, the remaining participant may be required to work extra hours, up to 40 per week, in order to assure the work of the position is completed. No other terms or conditions of this Agreement will change.

Each Job Share Agreement will require signatures of Participant A, Participant B, and the Department Head. The County or the Union may, at any time, cancel this agreement after thirty (30) days written notice.

1.77

75 M S

LETTER OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN WHATCOM COUNTY AND

PROFESSIONAL AND TECHNICAL EMPLOYEES LOCAL 17

This Letter of Agreement is by and between Whatcom County, hereafter called "the County" and the Professional and Technical Employees, Local 17 (hereafter called the Union) regarding the Professional and Technical Employees, Local 17 Collective Bargaining Agreement (hereafter called "the Agreement").

The purpose of this Letter of Agreement is to grandfather employees currently working a .9 FTE or .95 FTE from provisions bargained in the 2019-2020 Agreement with regard to overtime compensation and compensatory time off.

- A. Employees currently working a .9 FTE or .95 FTE schedule are sometimes assigned work on a Saturday, Sunday, or holiday outside of their normal work week and receive either overtime compensation or compensatory time off at the overtime rate.
- B. Section 4.4.1(2) of the 2019-2020 collective bargaining agreement states that part-time employees must work in excess of forty (40) hours during the week to be entitled to overtime compensation.
- C. The modified provision may adversely affect current employees that have an established .9 FTE or .95 FTE schedule and have been receiving overtime compensation or compensatory time off when working on a Saturday, Sunday or holiday.

The parties, therefore, agree as follows:

- 1. Laurette Rasmussen, Jennifer Hayden and Kelly Molaski are exempt from the provisions of section 4.4.1(2) if they are scheduled to work on a Saturday, Sunday, or holiday. The exemption for the requirement to work in excess of forty (40) hours during the week to receive overtime compensation will be in place as long they maintain their current .9 FTE or .95 FTE schedule. All other provisions in section 4.4.1 will apply.
- 2. Any future .9 FTE or .95 FTE employees shall receive overtime compensation pursuant to the modified section 4.4.1.

Name	Signature	Date
Annie Costello, PTE 17 Representative	grui Catelle	5/7/2019
Karen Goens, HR Manager	Figen Hoens	5/13/2019
Jack Louws, County Executive		5.22.19
Approved as to Form:		
Leaving	5/13/19	
Elizabeth Gallery \(\square\) \(\square\) Civil Deputy Prosecuting Attorney	Date	

Local 17 CBA May 21, 2019 - December 31, 2020

Page 37 of 37